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INTRODUCTION

Claverdon is a hilltop settlement on the A4095 Warwick to Henley-in-
Arden Road at its junction with Langley Road and Shrewley Road. It has
two distinctive settlement groups of buildings, which, until the post war
and recent suburban housing infill, were completely separate with open

fields between.

The present population is around 1300 and about 250 dwellings. In

1900 there were about 40 dwellings in the main village areas.

Because of its elevated position, there are good open views of the
surrounding countryside from within the village. From the village
approaches, particularly from the east along the A4095, Claverdon is

prominent on the skyline.

The ancient village settlement is centred around the church of St Michael
and All Angels and Park Farm and it is a fairly open-textured linear
settlement along Church Road, a quiet winding lane following the

contours of the top of the scarp slope.

The other pre 1900 part of the village is centred around the
A4095/Shrewley Road junction. There is a pleasant triangular village
green at this point dominated by a large horse chestnut tree. A small
terrace group of cottages face north to the green and there are several

other individual cottages around it.

Claverdon has evolved around Claverdon Hall, a large manor farmstead,
Crown Farm, Hercules Farm and Park Farm - all of which are ancient

farmsteads.



By the Shrewley Road junction there is a 19th Century village school
(now a dwelling), a large detached school house and a separate reading
room (now a Pet Grooming Centre). The Crown Inn is a long established
hostellery and an ancient timber-framed (listed) building. There is also a
butcher’s shop and a solicitor’s practice both in pre-1900 buildings. The
village stores is in a C17 thatched cottage with modern extension to

house shop.

The Red Lion, at the other end of the village, is also an ancient Inn with

some fine timber frame structure remaining.

Also on the east side approach into the village and on the junction of the
main road with Church Road is an old smithy. It is an unusual oak-
framed building with a 'horseshoe’ entrance opening and is very

prominent. In fact it is the Claverdon 'landmark’.

Besides the Church and Church centre, there is a surgery and a youth

centre with tennis courts. There is also a good village cricket ground.

There were two Conservation Areas designated in February 1970 -
around each of the ancient settlement areas outlined above. They
contain 14 listed buildings, including the church which is Grade B. (All

the rest are Grade II).



SETTLEMENT HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT

The Manor of Claverdon is mentioned in the Domesday Book as
‘Claverdone’. The name is derived from the early English 'Claefer Dun’

or ‘clever hill’.

The Manor was held by the Count of Meulan in 1086, then it passed to

the Earls of Warwick in the C12th and used as a ‘dower’ estate.

An interest in the Manor was sold to the Throckmorton family of
Coughton in the C13th, then the whole Manor passed to Roger Walford
in 15568. It stayed in the Walford family then until 1729.

During this time the Spencer family (related to the present Princess of
Wales) were associated with Claverdon and there is a monument to

"Thomas Spencer’ in the Church.

In 1747 the Manor passed to Baron Archer of Umberslade Park, who
used the woodlands and open land around the village for hunting. This

land was known as 'the Park’ - hence 'Park Farm’ near the Church.

The Church of St Michael and All Angels dates from the C15th but was
much altered in the C19th and fully restored in the 1930’s.

A school, first established in Claverdon in 1733, then the ’'National
School,” was built in 1847 complete with separate school house and

reading room.

For centuries, Claverdon was basically a family community centred round
Claverdon Hall, Hercules Farm, Crown Farm, Park Farm and the Glebe
Farm (Vicarage). Then it suddenly became a dormitory village in the
1950’s and 60’'s for commuters to Warwick, Leamington and

Birmingham, etc.



Much of Claverdon, therefore, has a clearly modern suburban character,
apart from the two original settlement areas which are now the
Conservation Areas. A comparison of the 1885 Ordnance Survey and

current map clearly shows this dramatic growth.
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3.1

SETTLEMENT AND CONSERVATION AREA
CHARACTER ANALYSIS

Heritage and Architectural Character

There are a number of 16th and 17th century buildings in Claverdon and

the church has parts of the structure dating from the 14th century.

The timber-framed buildings have a mixture of red brick and whitened
brick or render infill panels. Most of them have been ‘restored’ in recent

times.

There is clear evidence of well established 17th century rural village
settlement of small farmworkers cottages supporting the farmsteads - all
built in the Warwickshire vernacular form of oak box-framing with
thatched roofs (most of which were later replaced by red clay plain tiles.

However, two thatched roofs have survived to the present day.)

The 18th century did not add much to the village: then there was a spate
of building or re-building in the 19th century, red brick and tile or welsh
slate vernacular. The school, school house and cottage row east of the
vicarage are built in victorian ‘tudor-gothic’ style. Other than these,

there is very little stylised architectural form in the village.

The predominance of the small cottage vernacular gives the Conservation
Areas of the village a low intimate scale. These buildings are generally
2-storey with a roof space/attic first floor rooms with dormer and gable
end windows. Most of the cottages are close to the road, on the back
of the pavement or with a small front garden or grass verge area. There
is not a consistent boundary form. There is a complete mixture of brick

walls, hedges and fences.
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3.3
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Landscape Setting and Village Farm

Claverdon, because of its expansion into a large community, has lost
much of its rural character. It has a suburban feel due to the pressures
of population and traffic which passes through on the A4095. There are,

however, many attractive fragments of landscape interest.

It is something of a hilltop settlement in that the main road climbs
towards the core of the village at the small triangular green near the
Crown Inn. (Photo 1). This small green is a key open space in this part
of the village. Claverdon Hall to the north is on Lye Green Road which

forms a ridge from the central core. (Photo 2).

Because of its elevated position there are good open views, from many
parts, of the surrounding countryside (Photo 3). Such gaps as exist in
the built form, which give visual connection with the outer landscape, are
important areas to retain as open space whether they be in agricultural

production or merely incidental amenity spaces.

A significant feature of the village is the preponderance of pine trees
which form landmarks {Photo 4} and the abundance of holly, both as
hedges and single trees. The presence of these is no doubt due to the

lighter soil types at higher altitudes.

Besides the main areas of conservation/landscape interest, one centred
around the crossroads near the Crown Inn and the other based on the
Church of St Michael and All Angels, in Church Road, there are two
peripheral areas which have a character outside the norm for the village.
These are The Red Lion Inn on the A4085 and Claverdon Hall on Lye

Green Road.




Area A - The Central Core

In landscape terms this area is dominated by the trees around the Crown
Inn and Bryn-Arden and around the eastern boundary of properties on the

east of Lye Green Road (Photo 5).

The triangular green at the crossroads supports a horse chestnut tree,
characteristic of many village greens (Photo 6) and the building frontages
are a mixture of being close onto the footpaths to being separated by
front plots and hedges.

The lead-in via Claverdon Hall is a road which is well contained on its
east side by hedge and by the walls to the Hall (Photo 2) but on the west
side it has open views to the outer landscape (Photo 7) and as a setting

for the Hall it is an important aspect.

The open land separation between Claverdon Hall and Claverdon Court
is also important (Photo 8) and should not be developed, as it gives the
opportunity to appreciate the enclosure afforded by the belt of pine trees

alongside the Tennis Courts on Lye Green Road (Photo 4).

To the south of Station Road lies the Cricket Ground (Photo 9) which has
a pleasant footpath walk on its south east side (Photo 10) and forms the

main public open space for the village.

Area B - The Church of St Michael’s and All Angels

This area is divorced from Area A by housing developments and therefore
has its own distinctive character, which is not immediately apparent from
the A4095 except for the fact that it is marked by the Old Smithy and
its backdrop of pine trees. (Photo 11). Alongside the A4095, on the
bend, the Village Club (Dorothea Mitchell Hall) is set back behind hedges
and a wide verge. The Club and its tennis courts are, however,

unobtrusive because of their hedged and treed enclosure.
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Church Road winds its way towards Park Farm bordered by footpaths
and sporadic brick walls and hedging (Photo 12). On the north side of
the road there is a good brick wall bounding the grounds of the Glebe
House, which returns down the public footpath leading to St Michael’s
Road.

The Church itself is contained by hedging and a short length of brick wall
and within the churchyard yews cluster at the north-east end, whilst
towards the west groups of holly and holly lime and yew complement the
Church (Photo 13). The graveyard extends towards the west and

Mistletoe and Yew Tree Cottages (south end).

The north west boundary of the churchyard is formed by a blue brick
retaining wall and ha-ha which gives onto The Glebe (Photo 14) - an

open buffer space between it and the recent housing area.

There are extensive views of open countryside from properties on the
east side of Church Road (Photo 15) and several public footpaths

approach from this direction.

Area C - The Red Lion

Associated with Area C is the Red Lion public house, which is prominent
on the rising approach from Warwick (Photo 16). The road is bounded
on the north by banks and on the other side with an obtrusive brick wall
supporting the car park. The whole of the car park area for the public
house is in a neglected state but, by being elevated above general levels,

it affords a platform for enjoying the distant views.




Area D - Claverdon Hall

The Hall and its grounds form an entity which, although not accessible
to the public, has an impressive presence on the edge of the village. It
is well enclosed on the roadside with hedging and stone and brick walls
(Photo 17) whilst the rear boundary is marked with a brick wall and ball
cap pier ends. A recent fence extending from the hedged tennis court
rather detracts from this boundary (Photo 8). Within the grounds there
is a topiary garden and several fine conifers on the rear boundary (Photo
18). The most striking tree, however, is the cedar on the west frontage

which is a landmark feature in the area.
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3.2

Predominant Building Materials

The predominant building materials in both Conservation Areas are
red/orange brick and red/blue plain clay tiles. The local stone is a grey
marlstone. This is evident in the church and the road boundary wall to
Claverdon Hall and parts of the Hall and in plinth walls to some of the
timber-framed buildings. The oak-framed buildings are not all black and
white. Some oak frames are brown-stained or the natural silver-grey
colour with red brick infill panels. There is, however, some 1920's
‘tudor’ black and white applied framing on some buildings, ie, the house

next to Hercules Farm, ‘Denemoor’ and '‘Bryn Arden’.

Roofs are generally 45° to 50° pitch with gable dormers and ridge-stack
chimneys. Some of the 19th century buildings have lower (30°) pitched
welsh slate roofs ie the old school and the vicarage, but these are a

minority.

The cottage small multi-paned or horizontal glazing bar window style
predominates with segmental arched heads and some with iron opening

casements.

The boundary walls are generally red brick (except for the stone wall to
Claverdon Hall) but do not figure significantly in the Conservation Areas
(except those round Claverdon Hall and the Vicarage). There is a
predominance of brick walls and rustic wood post and rail and open
slatted boundary fences in the Shrewley Road area, (Crown Farm and
Hercules Farm) and of painted iron field rail fences (eg Tally Ho/Beam End
Cottage, Church centre entrance and church yard Ha-Ha and road

boundaries.
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4.1

CONSERVATION AREA
REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Boundary Alterations

It is recommended that the following alterations be made to the

Claverdon Conservation Area boundaries:

.

Rear of Crown Farm and Old Post Office

Exclude rear garden areas in Highcroft and rationalise boundary to
run along rear of new houses and to boundary fences to include
just the land which forms the immediate setting to Crown Farm

and barn and the buildings of interest along the main road.

Station Road - Area of Telephone Exchange

Exclude telephone exchange area and adjoining main road - move

boundary to coincide with existing hedgelines.

Cricket Ground

Include area of village cricket ground as it is the principal public
open space within the village and of rare landscape quality; also
the 19th century cottages on the bend in Langley Road and the
important view of them from the old school.

Red Lion Car Park

Include the whole of the car park for completeness and to define
this area as an important landscape feature area and entrance into

the village.
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